
CITY OF LOCKPORT
CORPORATION PROCEEDINGS

Lockport Municipal Building

Regular Meeting
Official Record

November 15th,2023
6:30 P.M.

Mayor Michelle M. Roman called the meeting to order

ROLL CALL

The following Common Council members answered the roll call:
Aldermen Beakman, Devine, Fogle, Swanson-Gellerson, Kantor, and Lupo.

INVOCATION

MAYOR'S UPDATE

RECESS
Recess for public input.

111523.1 APPROVAL OF MINUTES

On motion of Alderman Beakman, seconded by Alderman _, the
minutes of the Regular Meeting of November 8th, 2023 are hereby approved as printed in the
Journalof Proceedings. Ayes Carried.

FROM THE MAYOR

FROM THE CITY CLERK

The Clerk submitted payrolls, bills for services and expenses, and reported that the
Depaftment Heads submitted reports of labor performed in their departments,
Reviewed by the Finance Committee.

Communications (which have been referred to the appropriate City officials)

1110312023 Andrew Ciubotaru of Rezzonator Services, representing Hawley's Grove LLC,
requesting the city to waive the 30-Day municipality notification for a supplemental liquor
license application.

1110812023 Jeff Tracy, Lockport Planning and Zoning Board, notification from the board that
they do not recommend the request to the Council regarding the Special Use Permit to harbor
chickens and quail at100 lrving Street.

Notice of Gomplaint:



Referred to the Director of Highways, Parks and Water Distribution

Notice of Claim:
Referred to the Corporation Counsel

MOTIONS & RESOLUTIONS

111523.2
By Alderman Beakman:

Whereas the City of Lockport FY 2024 Mayor's Recommended Budget was presented
to the Common Council and public on October 4th,2023; and

Whereas the City of Lockport Common Council has had a public hearing on such
budget and has considered alterations to be made to the Mayor's Recommended budget prior
to appropriating funds; now, therefore, be it

Resolved that the City tax budget for fiscal year 2024, containing appropriations for
operating City departments, be and the same is hereby amended and adopted as follows:

ctry oF RT. NEW YORK
2024 GENERAL FUND BUDGET SUMMARY

Budget Appropriations:
Personal Services
Equipment
Contractual
Employee Benefits
lnterfund Transfers

$13,072,692
$475,484
$4,345,123
$10,713,464
$20,000

Debt Service $780,294
Total Appropriations: $29,407,057
Less: Estimated Revenues: $15,224,333

Estimated Fund Balance: $733,123
Amount to be raised through property taxation: 913,449,601
Assessed Valuation: 91,253,537,817

REAL PROPERTY TAX RATE: $10.72931 per $1,000 ASSESSED VALUATION

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.3
By Alderman:_

Whereas the City of Lockport FY 2024 Mayor's Recommended Budget was presented
to the Common Council and public on October 4th,2023; and

Whereas the City of Lockport Common Council has had a public hearing on such
budget and has considered alterations to be made to the Mayor's Recommended budget prior
to appropriating funds; now, therefore, be it



Resolved that the City of Lockport 2024 Budget containing appropriations for operating
the City's Refuse & Recycling, be and the same is hereby adopted as follows:

CITY OF LOCKPORT. NEW YORK
2024 SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - RECYCLING & REFUSE SUMMARY

Appropriations:
Personal Services
Equipment
Contractual
Employee Benefits
Debt Service
Interfund Transfers

Total Appropriations:
Estimated Revenues:

$0
$23,500
$1,370,059
$0
$36,477
$0
$1,430,035
$1,430,035

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.4
By Alderman:

Whereas the City of Lockport FY 2024 Mayor's Recommended Budget was presented
to the Common Council and public on October 4th,2023; and

Whereas the City of Lockport Common Council has had a public hearing on such
budget and has considered alterations to be made to the Mayor's Recommended budget prior
to appropriating funds; now, therefore, be it

Resolved that the City of Lockport 2024Water Fund Budget cont6ining appropriations
for operating the City's Water Department, be and the same is hereby adopted as follows:

CITY OF LOCKPORT. NEW YORK
2024 WATER FUND BUDGET SUMMARY

Appropriations:
Personal Services
Equipment
Contractual
Employee Benefit
Debt Services
lnterfund Transfers

Total Appropriations:
Estimated Revenues:

Estimated Fund Balance

Seconded by Alderman

111523.5
By Alderman:

$1 ,352,313
$4,500
$1,182,834
$1,205,672
$611,219
$165,000
$4,521,538
$4,371,538
$150,000

and adopted. Ayes



Whereas the City of Lockport FY 2024 Mayor's Recommended Budget was presented
to the Common Council and public on October 4th,2023; and

Whereas the City of Lockport Common Council has had a public hearing on such
budget and has considered alterations to be made to the Mayor's Recommended budget prior
to appropriating funds; now, therefore, be it

Resolved that the City of Lockport 2024 Sewer Fund Budget containing appropriations
for operating the City's Wastewater Treatment and Compost Facility, be and the same is
hereby amended and adopted as follows:

CITY OF LOGKPORT. NEW YORK
2024 SEWER FUND BUDGET SUMMARY

Appropriations:
Personal Services
Equipment
Contractual
Employee Benefits
Debt Service
lnterfund Transfers

Total Appropriations:
Estimated Revenues:

Estimated Fund Balance

$1,159,362
$106,000
$1,425,849
$1 ,015,353
$586,888
$137,242

$4,429,694
$4,298,694
$131,000

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.6
By Alderman

Resolved that the following water rates for the City of Lockport shall be effective on all
residential and commercial water consumption billed after January 1, 2024 and on all industrial
water billed after January 1,2024:

CITY OF LOCKPORT . WATER RATES
EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024

Each and every meter located in any building shall be classified as a separate meter account.

MONTHLY BILLS

Rates for all industrial users of water:
ln addition to the currently billed rate for each meter in building per month (to be
$36.41 ), the following:
Minimum rate - $16.08 per each one-month period or fraction thereof:

First 50,000 cu. ft. $4.02 per 100 cu. ft.
Next 100,000 cu. ft. $3.75 per 100 cu. ft.
Over 150,000 cu. ft. $3,44 per 100 cu. ft.



QUARTERLY BILLS

Rates for commercial users of water are:
Minimum rate - As per City of Lockport Meter Fee Schedule effective January 1,2024,
and, a usage commodity charge of $3.80 per 100 cu. ft.

Rates for residential users of water are:
Minimum rate - As per City of Lockport Meter Fee Schedule effective January 1, 2024,
and, a usage commodity charge of $3.64 per 100 cu. ft.

RURAL BILLS
Rates for all non-resident users of water - quarterly rate plus 50%

BULK WATER
$5.90 per 1,000 gallons

The following Meter Fee Schedule for all Residential and Commercial meters is as follows

COM/RES

CITY OF LOCKPORT METER FEE SCHEDULE
EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024

Meter Size WA MR
A 5t8" $44.22
B 3/4" $49.42
c 1' $54.62
D 1 1t2" $59.82
E 2" $65.03
F 3u $70.23
G 4" $75.43
H 6' $80.63

IND $16.08

3.64

3.80

$36.41

RES

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.7
By Alderman:

Resolved that the following local law be and the same is hereby adopted:

City of Lockport
Local Law No.3 ofthe year2023

coM

WA

WA

A local law to amend the City of Lockport "Schedule of Sewer Rents and Other Charges,"



Be it enacted by the Common Council of the City of Lockport as follows:

SEWER RATES

The following sewer rental charges shall be effective on all residential, commercial, and
industrial water consumption billed as follows:

after January 1,2024
$17.30 per month service charge for both domestic and industrial users plus a commodity charge
of $2.65 per 100 cu. ft. of water billed, plus a standard surcharge for industrial users for excess
strength of sewage as stated in all existing lndustrial sewer contracts.

TNDUSTRTAL $17.30
COMMERCIAL & RESIDENTIAL $43.25 (billed quarterly)

The standard surcharge for all industrial users for excess strength of sewage as stated in all
existing industrial service contracts be as follows:

Type
Discharging wastewater, per 100 cubic feet:

Effective 01 January 2024.. ...$1.20

Discharging excess total suspended solids
in excess of 350 mg per liter per one hundred pounds per day:

Effective 01 January 2024 $3.62

Discharging excess BOD in excess of 250 mg liter per, per one hundred pounds per day:

Effective 01 January 2024 .......$3.23

Discharging wastewater through the use of a waste hauler per one thousand gallons
Effective 01 January 2024......... ,...........$19.00

Annualwaste hauler disposal permit authorizing the use of City of
Lockport wastewater treatment plant to a specific waste hauler:

Effective 01 January 2024 $401.86

Annual amount charged for an effective City of Lockport wastewater discharge
permit issued to City of Lockport industries identified as POTW
significant industrial users (Sl U's):

Effective 01 January 2024 ....$434.00

RV Waste Disposal, City Resident, per occurrence

Effective 01 January 2024

Fee

RV Waste Disposal, Non-City Resident, per occurrence

$0.00



Effective 01 January 2024........ ............$20.00
Effective January 1,2024,laboratory analysis at city of Lockport wastewater
treatment plant laboratory are as follows:
Analvte Rate
pH .........,. sr r sz
Settleable solids ...... $11.52
Total suspended solids $34.62
Total so1ids....,......... $17.30
BOD 5 .... $46.13
Dissolved oxygen .... $23,09
Fecal coliform .. $40.40

The following Meter Fee Schedule for all Residential and Commercial meters is as follows

CITY OF LOCKPORT METER FEE SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024

COM/RES SW
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25
$43.25

Meter Size
A 518"

B 3/4"

c1"
D 1 112"

E2'
F3'
G4"
H6'

MR

IND $17.30 $36.41

RES 2.6s

coM 2.65

and adopted. Ayes

111523.8
By Alderman

Whereas the City of Lockport believes in the right of all of its employees to receive a
living wage; and

Whereas State of New York has enacted the Minimum Wage Act (Article 19 of the New
York State Labor Law); and

Resolved the City of Lockport Common Council hereby adopts, as the minimum wage
for all its employees, the annual rate set by the New York State Minimum Wage Act, as the
same may be adjusted from time to time.

SW

SW

Seconded by Alderman

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes



111523.9
By Alderman

Whereas the Finance Director, in coordination with the City Treasurer, is required to
make a number of adjustments related to the closing of the 2023 fiscal year, including the
amendment of under/over line items, closing of completed capital projects, and carry-forward
of encumbrances for projects not completed or invoiced in FY 2023; now, therefore, be it

Resolved that the City is authorized to make said adjustments and report to the
Common Council a listing of amended items, projects, and encumbrances by April of FY 2024

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.10
By Alderman

Whereas the City of Lockport has collective bargaining agreements with various unions
that cover virtually all of its employees with the exception of a few managerial and confidential
employees; and

Whereas the City of Lockport enacted an Unrepresented Employees Policy on October
24,2018 to provide the general terms of employment and respective compensation; and

Whereas the City has determined that it is necessary to update this policy; and
Whereas the Common Council has reviewed that attached Unrepresented Employees

Policy and approve the same; and
Now therefore be it resolved that the City of Lockport hereby adopts and approves the

Unrepresented Employees Policy.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.11
By Alderman:_

Whereas the City of Lockport (City) received a New York State Canal Corporation
Canalway matching grant in the amount of $150,000 for the Lowertown Loop Phase 1 Project
(Project), City Contact No. 2536; and

Whereas the Project consists of improvements to the comfort station on Market St. at
North Adam St. and construction of a pavilion in the vicinity of the comfort station; and

Whereas donations and in-kind work by City forces to support the Project will be used
for the required grant match; and

Whereas the City issued a Notice to Bid for interested contractors for the Project and
subsequently received and publicly opened and read bids at the Municipal Building on
November 1,2023 at2 pm as follows;



i Sicoli

CONTRACTOR iCorrstructio
ln Services,
i lnc.

TOTAL BID
AMOUNT

149,900.00
I'

And
Whereas the City Engineering Consultant Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. (Nussbaumer)

reviewed the contractor bid and has determined that Sicoli Construction Services, lnc. has
submitted lowest complete and responsible bid and recommends that the City award the
contract to Sicoli Construction Services, lnc., for a total amount of $149,800.00;
Now, therefore, be it:

Resolved that the Mayor is authorized to execute an Agreement with Sicoli
Construction Services, lnc., 4800 Hyde Park Blvd., Niagara Falls, NY 14305, in the amount of
$149,800.00 contingent upon legal review.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.12
By Alderman:

Resolved that the request for a special use permit by Keli and Robert Worden at 100
lrving Street to harbor chickens and quail on the property, be and the same is hereby
approved, subject to the following provisions:

No change in character of neighborhood.
No excessive noise or disturbance of neighborhood
No appreciable change in traffic.
No outside storage of materials.

The special permit shall go to the applicant only and shallterminate on the sale or
transfer of the property if other than the applicant; and further it terminates if the use permitted
is abandoned for more than one year, if any of the conditions enumerated herein have
changed, and in the discretion of the Common Council make such use unsuitable.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.12A
By Alderma

Whereas, the City of Lockport advertised for bid proposals for chemicals for municipal
water treatment for the 2023 calendar year, and

Whereas, the following bids were received and publicly opened by the City of Lockport
on Friday, October 21,2022 at 11:00 am: JCI Jones Chemicals, lnc., $2,880 per ton for
chlorine; Usalco, $2.3265 per gallon, and Kemira Water Solutions, $2.51 per gallon, gallon for
polyaluminum chloride (PAC); and Univar Solutions $3.7Slgallon for hydrofluorosilcic Acid
(fluoride)

Whereas, the contracts will be awarded solely from the bids received; and



Whereas, the Chief Water Treatment Plant Operator has reviewed the bids and
recommends awarding the contract to each of the low bidders; now, therefore, be it

Resolved, that the Mayor, subject to Corporation Counsel approval, is hereby
authorized and directed to sign contracts with JCI Jones Chemicals, lnc. for chlorine, Usalco
for polyaluminum chloride (PAC), and Univar Solutions USA, lnc. for hydrofluorosilicic acid
(fluoride) for January 1,2024 through December 31,2024.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

111523.13 ADJOURNMENT

At _ P.M. Alderman Beakman moved the Common Council be adjourned until
6:30 P.M., Wednesday, November 1Sth, 2023.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

SARAH K. LANZO
City Clerk



Deputy City Clerk

From: Kristin Schubring < kschubring@ lockportny.gov>
Tuesday, November 14,2023 2:44 PM

deputyclerk@ lockportny.gov
cityclerk@ lockportny.gov
AP Fund Totals 11/15/23

Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:

HiEmily,

lnvoices to be approved at the meeting on 1,L/75/23 are as follows

Fund A General - 555,900.38
Fund FX Water - S8,zl9.lz
Fund G Sewer -528,442.36
Total- 592,622.5t

Please let me know if you have any questionsl

Kristin Bernardi Schubring
Principal Account Clerk

Finance Department
City of Lockport, NY

716.439.662A

1



Building Inspection Department
Jason Dool
Chief Building Inspector

Lockport Municipal Building
One Locks Plaza

Lockport, NY 14094
Phone (716) 439-6759

Fax (716) 439-6605

November 8,2023

RECEIVED

Nov 0e2023
Mayor Michelle Roman and
Members of the Common Council
One Locks Plaza
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY CLERK OFFICE

Ladies and Gentlemen:

At the regular meeting of the Lockport Planning Board held Monday,
November 6,2023 a request for a Special Use Permit to harbor chickens and quail
on the property located at 100 Irving Street, Lockport, New York situated in an R-
I zone was present.

After a lengthy discussion and there being no neighbors present, it was
determined of the Board to NOT recommend the request to the Council.

submitted,

Lo
mkb



lkoa tsrqiiq.tfgrqog*Q agnQrezq/g.qoq*6@q&Qxqllnenq-.el QeQ Qoeog.qoeee@uQeelgllgoqaqogq
I

244 Stt'Avenue 5251, New York NY 10001. T-212.390.0806 F-888.502 .562O rezzonatorservices.com

NewYork, 09/lB/2023 RECEIVED

NOv o3 2023Re: Hawley's Grove LLC

482 West Ave
Lockport, NY, 14904

Request to Waive 30 Day Notification for a Liquor License

CITY CLERK OFFICE

Dear Lockport Clerk Office,

My name is Andrew Ciubotaru of Rezzonator Services, the firm representing the
applicant mentioned above.

This letter is to notify you of a On-Premise Seasonal Liquor License application.
(Community Board Notice Attached).

This letter is to request a waiver of the 30-Day Municipality Notification for a
supplemental liquor license application for the aforementioned client (Community Board
Notice Attached).

We would like to note that the applicant business has already successfully applied for and
received (through our firm) a New York State Liquor Authority Full Liquor License with a
waiver from your Community Board (waiver dated 09.27.2021, regarding Hawley's Grove Inn,
see exhibit A attached).

Thank you for your prior consideration in granting that waiver.

THE NEW REOUEST:

The applicants, Ms. Ashley Pietrzykowski and Mr. Marc Pietrzykowski, are running a
licensed establishment that has become an integral part of the community and based on patron
feedback and demand they are simply adding an outdoor area so that patrons can enjoy food and
drinks outdoors during the warmer months.

Their license will run PART TIME for the outdoor area from March to November as
weather permits.

We kindly ask your office to take into consideration the following aspects to support our
waiver request:

t The establishment has no violations, adverse history, or other complaints with
the NYSLA.



g?gcq6qFq q

a

244 Sdt Avenue 5251, New York NY 10001, T-212.390.0806 F-888.502.5620 rezzonatorservices.com

The applicants are experienced licensees and business owners serving liquor
since 2021.

The applicants have the support of their community as is evidenced by the great
reviews proving public convenience and advantage (see Exhibit B attached).

a

In closing, the Pietrzykowski's have dedicated themselves to running an establishment
that can be appreciated and enjoyed by the community overthe past2 years while appreciating
the rich history at this location which has held a liquor license since 1980 (please see Exhibit C).

We respectfully request that you waive the 30-day notice so that the applicants may
expand their premises outdoors and may continue to serve the public.

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter. If you have any further questions,
feel free to contact me at212.390.0806 or via email at info@rezzonatorservices.com

Sincerely,

Andrew Ciubotaru
Administrative Assistant
Rezzonator Services



t0

Crry or Loclconr
One Locks Plaza
Lockport, New York 14094
(716) 439-6631
E-mail: trusso@lockportny.gov

TIM RUSSO
Director of Finance

- FINANCAL OPINION MEMO -

Ju\y22,2023

To: Mayor Roman and Common Council
From: Timothy Russo, Director of Finance

Regarding: Update to Unrepresented Agreement
Data used in Determination: Proposed Agreement, New world personnel Data
other Parties consulted / Referenced / rnvolved in Determination: N/A

The unrepresented agreement has not been fully reviewed or modified in many years. This
alteration would amend the document with a number of alterations, but notably includes the
following:

r A new cost of living adjustment (COLA) that takes place January l't of each year
beginning inFY 2024. It is defined as the average ofthe COLAs found in the CSEAand
Department Head contracts.

I Incorporation of the 3%o COLA retro dated to l/I/2023 for the Corporation Counsel and
Deputy Corporation Counsel positions (as approved in the FY 202t appropriation).

o A newly included City Clerk position is added into the agreement per recentjudge ruling,
established at a rate equivalent to that of a department head grade 2 step 2. This would
take effect when Council approves this contract.

Current and Future Costs

The below exhibit shows costs from FY 2023 to FY 2026 forcurrent employees firstly
!as9d on the existing agreement and secondly based offofthis proposal (which incluOes the new
coLA).

Cost $ e,zlt $ rs,osr S z4ssa S zg,L3,o

1/l
!
ho

{-)
!
e
OJt!
l!
5U

b
$sa_ogu

a-

S srg,zgg S 33r,771 5 tgs,llz $ gae,Eoz

$ zq,qag $ 25,381 S 2s,087 $ zo,oso

$ ro,goo S L7,u7 S L1,647 5 rg,szg
$ geLosg $ ztq,gM $ rzg,ros $ gggs46

, FY?025 ,FY 2026

S 325,401 $ 34z,qt4 S 3sl,ag7 5 374,235

$ z4sgs $ 26,27r 5 zl,zo4 S za,ezg

5 tl,ozg S r&rao $ tg,ggg S tg,gtz
$setpzo S g8ze66 S aog,ssg S 4zz,6lg



Costs in FY 2023 amount to$6,271, of which $4,000 has alreadybeen budgeted in the FY
2023 appropriation (this being the 3Yo COLA for the City and Deputy Attorneys). The remaining is
due to the increased salary of the City Clerk, which would not require a budget amendment due to
vacancy savings experienced in the department earlier this year. In FY 2024, costswould increase
by $13k compared to today's costs, which is the equivalent of a 0.t}%properly tax rate increase.
The following year, costs increase by $25k, or $18k greater than the last year, which is an

equivalent property tax rate increase of 0.14o/o from FY 2024.Finally in FY 2025, costs compared
to the current contract inuease by $29,130, which is a 0.08% property tax rate increase from the
prior year.

The current CSEA and Department Head contracts only go until FY 2026 andas such, no

FY 2027 orFY Z028analysis is provided.

Thankyou,

-fuhr,./ze_
Tim Russo

FinanpeDireplpr

2



Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to provide Unrepresented Department Heads, Management
Employees, and Management-Confidential employees with a reference for the basic terms and
conditions of employment with the City of Lockport.

The City is committed to providing the highest quality of services to the citizens of the City of
Lockport. The administrative employees of the City are one of the essential elements required
to fulfillthis commitment. Through their leadership and professionalism, the City's philosophy
and policy is manifested in the efficient and effective operation of the City Departments.

The City Councilvalues the dedication and service of its administrative employees. The policy
and the provisions contained herein establish and provide the terms and conditions of
employment for Unrepresented Department Heads, Management, and Management-
Confidential personnel in the employment of the City of Lockport Government. This policy
statement is intended to provide those employees with a better understanding of the privileges
and responsibilities of their positions and to assist in the mission of the professional delivery of
services in the City of Lockport.

Guidelines

The term "Administrative employee" is used in this policy manual to refer to all employees who
occupy positions that are exempt from the bargaining unit under the Taylor Law. For the
purposes of this manual, we have defined the administrative employees by using four major
categories, which are explained below. Policies or benefits that apply to all employees have
been referred to as applying to Administrative employees or employees covered by this policy.
Specific benefits or responsibilities that pertain to specific groups of employees, for example,
Unrepresented Department Heads, have been noted as such.

The following guidelines apply to this policy:

L Unrepresented Department Heads - Employees who are appointed by the Mayor,
whether or not the appointment is required to be confirmed by the City Council or
respective governing Board, but not represented by the Department Head Association
Unrepresented Department Heads function in the primary leadership position in the
department and are directly responsible for the development of departmental policies
and the implementation of legislative initiatives.

Director of Finance

Corporation Counsel
Citv Clerk

2. Management or Confidential- Employees who perform support functions for
management positions and/or other assignments, which require them to be
un represented by collective ba rgaining agreements.



Citv Clerk
Deputv Corporation Cou nsel
Confidentia I Secretarv
Confidential Assista nt

3 Elected Officials - Employees who are elected by popular vote. Due to their unique
status, Elected Officials are exempt from leave and attendance requirements. They are
also exempt from the probationary period.

l. Appointments

L. Full-Time Appointments

Unrepresented Department Heads, Management employees, and
Management/Confidential employees are for fixed or continuing terms.

a. Fixed Term Appointments - Certain appointments are for a pre-
established number of years as prescribed by the N.Y.S. Constitution,
State Law, City Charter, General Municipal Law, and Local Law or Rule.
lncluded in this category are appointments which are made for the 'Term
of the Council", which is two years.

b. Continuous Term Appointment - The remainder of the appointments is

continuous, and may be afforded Civil Service Status and Protection, and
is renewed contingent on satisfactory performance and authorization by
the City Council and/or the Mayor. This group includes administrative
employees who are appointed "at the pleasure of" the Mayor, within the
confines of applicable Civil Service Law. lnformation regarding the type of
appointment is provided to candidates during the recruitment and
selection process. Questions concerning the term of appointment may be
directed to the Human Resources/Civilservice Office.

2. Part-time Appointments and Benefits

ln certain cases, the City Council may establish part-time positions and/or
temporary positions to accommodate unique situations. Employees appointed to
part-time positions and who work less than the standard work week shall receive
the approved salary for the position and the statutory benefits referenced
herein, including Retirement (if eligible), Unemployment lnsurance, Social
Security, Worker's Compensation and, in some cases, Health lnsurance. There
shall be no earned leave benefits unless said part-time appointment consists of a
regular schedule equal to or greater than one-halt (L/2) of the standard work
week for the position. ln this case, leave benefits shall be prorated. Corporation
Counsel and Deputy Corporation Counsel titles shall not receive any leave, paid



time off, or health insurance benefits unless otherwise provided by City Council
resolution.

Fringe benefits shall be limited to the above-referenced items unless otherwise
approved by the City Council.

3. Probation Period

Employees in the classified service are subject to a probationary period in
accordance with the City of Lockport Civil Service Rules. The classified service
includes the competitive, Non-competitive, Exempt, and Labor classes of civil
service. Employees who have been promoted to a position in the classified
service are also subject to a probationary period.

Employees in the unclassified service or elected classification are not subject to a
probationary period.

4. Promotions

Administrative positions are critical to the efficient and effective operation of
City government. lt is the policy of the City of Lockport to seek professionals with
the qualifications and experience necessary to fulfill its goals. Emphasis will be
placed on recruitment of current employees who possess the qualifications,
experience, and employment history necessary for the quality operation of the
department. Employees who are promoted or working out-of-title shall be
placed at the minimum of the new grade unless the current hourly rate is above
the minimum, in which case, they will be placed in the step immediately above
their current hourly rate. No one shall exceed the top of the range for the new
grade. Out-of-title shall be defined as duties and responsibilities assigned beyond
that of an employee's regular position for a period greater than five consecutive
business days due to absence, exclusive of annual leave.

5. SecondarvEmplovment

Employees covered by this policy understand and agree that their employment
with the City is of basic and primary importance, and that secondary
employment must not inhibit or impede the efficient and effective performance
of their job duties, responsibilities, or attendance; nor shall it impair their
judgment in the exercising of their official duties. Employees engaged in
secondary employment will notify the Mayor's Office in writing of the details of
their employment.

certain positions covered by this manual also have a prohibition on secondary
employment embodied in New York State statute or local law,



ll. Compensation

1. AnnualSalarv

The city of Lockport maintains a competitive salary structure and benefit
package for ad ministrative em ployees.

A. A six step increment system (equal to a s% increase between two year steps)
shall be implemented fitting each employee into the proper grade and step
in accordance with the duties and responsibilities of an employee's position
and length of service in an employee's title. All employees covered by this
policy manual are placed in the graded salary schedule which has been
adopted by the city council. This graded salary schedure shall receive an
annual salary review during budget deliberations. At the conclusion of this
annual review, a total compensation plan, including any cost of living
adjustment, shall be submitted to the City Council for approval.

B. Employees shall move to the next step upon the completion of the 2nd,4th,
6th, 8'h, and 10th year in the title upon their respective anniversary in that
position. No employee may exceed the job rate of the grade.

c. Employees shall begin employment at the step 1 for the grade unless the
Mayor determines the need for the services or the employee's experience
requires that compensation be fixed at a higher Step.

D. Employees shall receive an annual cost of living increase in their respective
salary. The cost of living increase shall be the average of the contractual
wage increases negotiated for the same year for the city's Department Head
Union and CSEA. The cost of living increase shall be effective on January ls of
each year.

E. The Grade and step schedule for employees covered by this poricy is
attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit A.

2. Health lnsurance

A. Health lnsurance:

The city of Lockport provides group health, hospitalization, major medical
insurance, and prescription drug coverage through various self-insured point
of service plans for all full time and part-time employees covered by this
policy and their eligible dependents. Effective January L,zoLg, both the full
and part-time employee share of this coverage shall be fifteen percent {Ls%),



except for those employees covered under Resolution L227os.g and the
respective agreements memorizing said resolution. The city's Health Benefits
Program is fully described in the Plan Booklet. Effective January L,2OLg,
employees shall only be eligible to receive benefits equivalent to the Blue
Cross POS 298-Class 3 Plus SO/SZO co-pay plan.

Prescription Drug Coverage

The City Health lnsurance Plan includes a three tier formulary plan for
prescription drugs. Each employee who participates will contribute $7.00 co-
pay for generic prescriptions, S15.00 co-pay for formulary (brand name)
prescriptions and $35.00 co-pay for non-formulary prescriptions.

Employees shall be required to fill all prescriptions with the generic brand
when available. should the employee voluntary elect not to fill with the
generic brand, the employee will be responsible for the cost between the
generic and the drug selected (name brand or formulary), plus the co-pay for
the name brand or formulary. ln the event that the employee cannot take a
generic drug due to a medical reason determined by the prescribing medical
provider, the employee will not be required to pay the difference between
the generic drug and the drug selected. The employee will be responsible for
the formulary co-pay. Employees will be afforded the opportunity to utilize a

generic multi-month maintenance medication program at one (1) co-pay per
prescription. Generic maintenance medications can be filled for a three (3)
month supply with one co-pay.

Emplovee contributions/Eligibilitv:

Employee contributions for the health insurance premium shall be deducted
in equal amounts from each bi-weekly paycheck. Coverage for new
employees shall commence upon hire.

Enrollment in the health insurance plan shalltake effect as described herein
or during the open enrollment period during the month of october of each
year.

The Employer provides the l.R.S. section 105 Health Reimbursement Account
plan for employee contributions toward Health and other authorized and
applicable health care costs. The plan is administered by a Third party
Administrator of the city's choice and conforms to l.R.S. regulations. The city
will not contribute to an employee's HRA account and any balance remaining
at the end of a plan year shall become property of the City and used in
accordance with l.R.S. regulations.



3. Health lnsurance upon retirement

Except for those employees covered under Resolution L22LO5.g and the
respective agreements memorializing said resolution, employees shall be eligible
to continue health coverage for themselves and any eligible dependents in
retirement at the same employee contribution as of the date of retirement,
provided they have met the following requirements:

a. Completion of a minimum of ten (10) years continuous service with the City
of Lockport during which the employee was eligible to receive Health
lnsurance; and

b. Are employed by the City of Lockport at the time of retirement; and
c. Are enrolled in the health plan at the time of retirement; and
d. Provide the Employer with proof of retirement and otherwise meet the

definition of retirement as specified by the NYS Retirement System; and
e. Be at least 55 years old.

The retiree share of this coverage shall be the same as paid as an active
employee.

For All Retirees: Upon qualification for Medicare Part B, all retirees, the eligible
spouse or eligible dependent must enroll and provide the Medicare part B

required information to the Payroll Office. Any employee retiring on or after
January L,2OL6, shall be responsible for all Medicare Part B co-payments and/or
deductibles.

The surviving spouse or eligible dependent of any employee retiree may
continue to participate in the City's Health Plan upon payment of 100% of the
monthly premium equivalent.

4. Retirement

The city participates in the New York State Employee's Retirement system with
all rights and benefits presently provided by the Career Retirement Plan under
section 75i and r4b of the Retirement and socialsecurity Law. All permanent,
full-time employees are enrolled in the New York State and Local Retirement
System. A Retirement System booklet is provided at orientation. This booklet
provides all basic information on the Retirement System benefits. Due to
changing legislation and regulations, you should check with the N.Y.s. and Local
Retirement System directly to obtain information regarding your benefits.

ln addition, the City of Lockport offers the following Retirement Enhancements
* May not apply to 14b members



a. Section 41U) - the application of unused sick leave accruals toward
additional service credit upon retirement.

5. Not lndependent Contractors

Personnel covered by this contract shall not be considered independent
contractors and shall receive compensation reportable through a w-2 form

6. Worker'sCompensation

Employees that suffer an injury or illness that is directly related to their
employment shall be eligible for Worker's Compensation Benefits amounting to
a maximum of two-thirds of an employee's salary, depending on the degree of
injury. lnjuries must be reported within 24 hours to the appropriate City
contacts.

7. Emplovee Assistance Program

The city will provide an Employee Assistance Program through a qualified
provider of the city's choice. Employees will be responsible for any co-payments
applicable to the services provided. All records of the Employee Assistance
Program are confidential between the employee and the provider. The fact that
an employee utilizes such assistance shall not impact promotional opportunities
or job security,

8. Defense and lndemnification

The city of Lockport shall provide for the defense and indemnification of
personnel/employees covered by this policy for actions or omissions made in the
ordinary course of their employment in accordance with the City's Policies and
Procedures.

9. Deferred Compensation Plan (457c)

A Deferred Compensation Plan is a voluntary savings program created by Federal
and state Law that enables public employees to save a portion of their gross pay
before Federal and state income taxes are deducted. The amount deferred
accumulates tax free until the funds plus earnings are distributed. This program
is to be offered to unrepresented employees and information regarding the
complete details of the Deferred Compensation Program and payrolldeduction
forms are available in the Payroll Office.

10. Direct Deposit



An employee shall have the right to elect direct deposit as a payroll option.

11. Travelfor Citv Business

Employees covered by this policy will be reimbursed for necessary and
reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of City business in accordance
with the city's policies. Mileage will be reimbursed at the rate provided by the
lnternal Revenue Service.

Travel authorization and conference attendance shall be required as provided in
the City's Travel policy and within budgetary appropriation.

12. CivilService Exam Fees

Employees covered under this Policy that seek to take city of Lockport civil
service examinations shall pay only the fee assessed to the city by the New york
State Municipal Service Division.

13. Safetv Equipment

The city will, at is cost, provide employees with the necessary safety equipment
and/or uniforms to carry out their respective job duties. Requests for
reimbursement, if applicable, must be submitted to the Director of Finance.

lll. Attendance and Time off

1. Office Hours

with the exception of the corporation counsel's office, all city offices shall be
open for the conduct of business and convenience of the public in strict
accordance with the hours prescribed by the Mayor.

2. Base Work Dav/Work Week

A. Employees are responsible for performing the duties of their office. The work
day is determined by the tasks to be performed. The full-time work week
shall be a minimum of 35 hours per week or 40 hours per week, depending
on the position. Unrepresented Department Heads and Management
employees are not eligible for overtime compensation or compensatory
time. Part-time employees shall work the amount of hours prescribed by the
Mayor.

B. Employees covered under this Policy are required to work the weekly
schedule and hours as determined by their direct supervisor. Employees may



be entitled to receive overtime compensation subject to the approval of their
Department Head and the Mayor. Employees, with the exception of
corporation counsel, may accrue compensatory time provided they have
received prior approval from their Department Head. compensatory time
may be accumulated as follows:

- For a thirty-five (35) hour regular work week, a maximum of thirty-
five (35) hours may be accumulated on leave accruals at one time;

- For a forty (40) hour regular work week, a maximum of forty (40)
hours may be accumulated on leave accruals at one time;

C. All employees covered by this party, except elected officials and Corporation
Counsel, are required to complete time and attendance forms in accordance
with City policy.

3. Holidavs

Employees covered by this policy will be allowed time off with pay to observe
the following holidays, provided that the employee shall have worked the work
day immediately preceding such holiday and provided such employee works the
work day immediately following such holiday unless the employee is using paid
benefit time, other than sick time, for which prior approval has been given.
Employees who are required to work on a holiday will receive equal time off in
lieu of the holiday.

Specific holidays afforded to personnel/employees covered by this policy shall be
the same as provided to those employees covered by the csEA bargaining
agreement.

Annual holidays are subject to change. An annual holiday calendar will be issued
by the Payroll Office designating when holidays will be observed.

lf an employee is absent from work due to illness on either the last regularly
scheduled work day prior to the holiday or the first regularly scheduled work day
following the holiday, shall not be paid for the holiday unless the absence is
verified by a medical provider's statement.

4. Sick Leave

Absence from duty by an employee of the city of Lockport by reason of the
employee's own sickness, disability, or medical/dental appointments or that of
their immediate family, shall be allowed as provided in this section. Absence
from duty for such reasons, if granted by the Mayor, shall be considered and
known as "sick leave". corporation counsel and deputy corporation counsel do
not accrue sick leave time.



A. Sick leave shall be credited at the rate of one and one-half (1 %) days per
month. Half-time employees shall earn a pro-rated amount of sick leave.
Employees shall be charged sick leave time for actual hours used, in a
minimum increment of fifteen (15) minutes. Sick leave credits will be earned
when an employee is on full and active pay status for fifty (50%) of the
working days in the calendar month. Days during which an employee is out
on Worker's Compensation, in excess of 20 days, are not considered to be
days on full pay status for purposes of earning sick leave.

B. An employee who is absent on sick leave shall report his absence, and reason
therefore, to the Mayor at the earliest possible time, but no later than 9:30
AM.

c. The Mayor shall have the authority to grant sick leave. Employees that are
absent under the provisions of this section shall notify the Mayor if the
absence is anticipated to be of an extended nature and/or if it will interfere
with departmental operations.

D. After 3 consecutive days of illness or after 12 cumulative days of illness
during a 12 month period, the employee may be required to provide
documentation verifying their sick leave from a medical professional. lf the
Mayor suspects a pattern of sick leave abuse, the Mayor may request the
employee to provide proof of illness at any other time. The City also may
require the employee to be examined, at the City's expense, by a physician
designated by the Mayor and/or City Council.

E. Employees may utilize sick leave during the statutory waiting period while
under Worker's Compensation.

F. Accrual of sick leave shall be unlimited. However, the total amount of sick
leave that will be considered for credit purposes will be capped at 350 days.
Employees shall have sick leave accrued time applied up to the maximum
credit allowed toward retirement service credit under 41J. The remainder
will be bought back by the City at the rate of 4O% of the employee's final
average salary.

5. Sick B k Policv

A. Purpose and lntent. The purpose of this Article is to enable employees to
donate paid leave time to other members who are confronted with a

personal or family emergency.
B. Donations. An employee may donate accrued vacation, compensatory,

floating holiday, personal, or sick leave hours to the "Sick Bank" by



completing and signing a "Donation to the Sick Bank Pool" form available in
the Personnel/Civil Service Office.

C. Administration. The Personnel/Civil Service Office shall keep track of the total
hours available in the pool and provide all oversight of the pool and usage.

D. Use of Pool. ln conformance with the rules, the Personnel Officer is

authorized to permit the use of hours in the pool by any current employee
covered by this policy whose request to the Personnel/Civil Service Office is
approved. All decisions by the Personnel/Civil Service Office shall be final and
binding.

E. lnter-union use. The employees covered by this policy may utilize sick time
off from another City bargaining unit's "Sick Bank" if said request is

approved. Employees covered by this policy may donate sick time off to a

member of one of the City's bargaining units.

6. Familv Sick Leave

Notwithstanding the benefits afforded under the Family Medical Leave Act,
an employee shall be allowed to utilize accumulated sick leave for absence
from work necessitated by illness of the employee's parent (including
stepparents and foster parents), spouse, child (including stepchild and foster
child), sibling (including step sibling), grandparent, grandchild, parent-in-law,
son/daughter-in-law or person who is a member of the household. The City
may request written documentation from the employee to verify residency
of other household members.

7. Vacation

A. Annual Leave will be earned and credited monthly. New employees must
start on or before the 15th of the month to receive annual leave credit for
that month. Annual leave will be credited as follows and can be used when
ea rned:

Years of Credit Days of Vacation Accrued
Monthly

Maximum Days

Earned Annually
1 month through
year 4

0.8333 10

Year 5 through
year 9

L.25 15

Year 10 through
year 14

t.4L67 t7

Year 15 through
year 19

!.6667 2A

Year 20 through
year 24

1.8333 22



25 or more years 2.0833 25

Part-time employees regularly scheduled to work greater than half of the Full
Time Equivalent will receive a pro-rated value of annual leave. Employees shall
not accrue vacation leave for any period during which they are off the payroll for
more than half of the working days per month.

B. Employees may carry a maximum of twenty-five (25) days of accumulated' annual leave credit.

c. Upon the termination of an employee, either by resignation or retirement,
and when at least two weeks' notice is given by such employee of his/her
intended termination, any unused annual leave credits are to be
compensated at the employee's regular rate of pay. Employees that provided
the appropriate notice will receive a lump sum payment in the form of a

check mailed to them six weeks after termination/resignation date.
D. Employees shall submit requests for approval of use of vacation time to the

Mayor, in writing, of their intent to use consecutive days of vacation time off.
Said request shall be made at least one (1)week in advance of the intended
leave date, except in the event of special circumstances. Employees shall
notify the Mayor when expecting to not report for work for the day.

E. Vacation days may be used in increments of one-half day or full days only.

8. Personal Leave

1. Personal leave with pay shall be granted for religious observance or personal
business.

2. Effective January lst of each year, employees shall be credited with three (3)
days of personal leave. Employees who work at least half time shall receive
prorated personal leave. Employees hired afterJanuary l shall receive a

prorated share of personal leave credit.

3. Whenever possible, a request for personal leave should be submitted to the
Mayor at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the requested date(s) off.

4. Unused personal leave time shall be carried over at the end of the year shall
be converted to sick leave.



9. Familv Medical Leave

Family Medical Leave shall be provided in accordance with the rules included in
the City of Lockport Employee Handbook.

L0. Leaves ofAbsence

A. A leave of absence without O.U oJup to one year may be granted to
employees covered by this policy. A written request for a leave of absence
must be submitted to the Mayor at least four (4) weeks prior to the
requested date of leave describing the reason for said leave and the
anticipated duration of the leave.

B. A leave of absence shall not be granted to accept other employment.

c. No leave shall be authorized which may exceed the remaining period of a
term appointment.

D. Not less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of an employee's leave,
the employee shall be required to submit written notification to the Mayor
or Department Head of their intention to return to work.

E. When an employee is on a leave of absence for one-half of a month or
longer, sick leave, longevity and vacation will be pro-rated to reflect the
leave. Employees on an unpaid leave of absence will be required to
contribute the full cost of health insurance and any other paid fringe benefits
for the period beyond three (3) months, except as otherwise provided by law
or rule.

11. Bereavement Leave

A. ln the event of the death of an employee's parent (including stepparents and
foster parents), spouse, child {including stepchild and foster child), sibling
(including step-sibling), gra ndparent, grandch ild, pa rent-in-law, and any
other person who is a member of the household (the City may request
written documentation from the employee to verify residency of other
household members), the employee shall be excused from work, if the
employee was scheduled to work, with pay at his/her request, for up to four
( ) days. One (1) day of the four ( ) may be retained for later interment (if
applicable).

B. ln the event of the death of any relative not outlined in Section A of this
Article, the employee shall be excused from work at his/her request for a



maximum of two (2) days to attend the funeral utilizing accrued personal
leave, vacation leave, floating holiday or compensatory time.

C. Employees covered by this agreement who are less than full-time shall
receive a pro-rated value of the full-time equivalent of the scheduled full-
time hours.

12. Jurv Dutv

Upon receipt of proof of the necessity of jury services or appearance as a witness
to subpoena or other order of the court (for job related actions only), employees
shall be granted leave with pay to provide time as needed for such service. Any
compensation received, less expenses, for said service shall be returned to the
City Treasurer within five (5) working days from the time it is received by the
employee. An employee, who is dismissed for the day or from service within two
(2) hours or more remaining in his/her regular scheduled work day is required to
report to work.

13. Militarv Leave

Military Leave shall be provided pursuant to the City of Lockport Employee
Handbook.

lV. Discipline and Discharse

Employees and Personnel covered by this policy shall be "at will" and may be
terminated by the Mayor or his/her designee for cause. Any discipline or discharge
shall be at the sole discretion of the Mayor. The employee shall have no right to seek
review or appeal of the discipline or discharge.

V. Miscellaneous

The City of Lockport Employee Handbook shall apply regarding all workplace rules,
guidelines and procedures not covered herein.



Exhibit A - Unrepresented Emplovees

-L2l3rl2023 Schedule

*City Attorney and Deputy City Attorney incorporates a budgeted 3% cost of living adjustment retro to !1U2023.

Ll tl 2024 - tzl 3Ll2O24 Salary Schedule*

Lltl2025 - t2l3t/2025 Salary Schedule*

tltl2o26 - 1213t12O26 Schedule*

* Annual salary schedules estimated based on cost of living adjustments in the existing CSEA and Department contracts (which produce an
average of L75% in FY 2024,2.OO% in FY 2025, and \.75% in FY 2026). Subject to change per section tt.D of this policy.

Step 1

Hire

Step 2

Complete 2

Step 3

Complete 4

Step 4

Complete 6

Step 5

Complete 8

Step 6

Complete 10
Director of Finance 5 91,107 s 95,662 S too,++s s 10s,468 5 !Lo,74r 5 116,27g

City Clerk S 59,037 5 61,989 $ ss,ogg $ ea,sag 5 7t,760 $ 75,348
City Attorney* $ s+,gte 5 s7,7zS $ 6o,stt 5 63,642 $ 66,gzq S 70,166

Deputy City Attorney* $ zo,+ol 5 31,991 S :s,sgo S 35,270 $ 3l,ozq S 38,885
Confidential Assistant S 1e.23oo S 20.191s 5 zr.2ort 5 22.66LL S 233742 5 24.s429
Confidential Secretarv $ 23.s637 $ zq.t+ts $ zs.gzgo s 27.2780 $ 2s.6419 $ :o.oz+o

Step 1

Hlre

Step 2

Complete 2

Step 3

Complete 4

Step 4

Complete 6

Step 5

Complete 8

Step 6

Complete 10

Director of Finance $ gz,lot $ gz,gge S roz,zos S tot3tq $ L12,679 $ 118,313
City Clerk S 60,070 $ es,oz+ S oe,zzg s 69,539 S 73,016 $ ts,ast

Citv Attornev $ ss,ggg $ sg,zEe 5 eLan S 64,755 $ al,ggq 5 7r,394
Deputy City AttorneV S gt,oot S gz,ssr 5 3+,tzg S :s,esa 5 T,asz $ sg,sos
Confidential Assistant $ rg.soes S zo.sqqg S 2t572L $ 23.osi7 S zt;szz 5 24.e724
Confidential Secretary 5 zz.gtet 5 zs.Tqg $ zo.+gEs $ zt.tssq S zg.r+sr S 30.6003

Step 1

Hlre

Step 2

Complete 2

Step 3

Complete4

Step 4

Complete 6

Step 5

Complete 8

Step 5

Complete 10

Director of Finance S 94,5ss $ gg,zgg S n+,zqt $ tog,+60 S 114,933 $ tzo,6tg
CiW Clerk 5 6r,272 $ e+,995 s 67,553 s 70,930 $ tq,qta $ 78,zoo

City Attorney S 57,osl S s9,910 S oz,goa S 66,oso 5 69,3s+ 5 72,821,
Deputy CiW Attornev S :r,ozr 5 33,zoz $ 34,gsz S 36,60s S gs,+:s s 40,356
Confidential Assistant S rg.gszs S 2o.9ss7 $ 22.oo3G $ 23.s1s8 $ z+.zseg S zs.47r8
Confidential Secretary 5 24.4ss6 S zs.ataq S ze.goz: 5 28.310s S 29.7260 $ gr.zrzs

Step 1

Hire

Step 2

Complete 2

Step 3

Complete 4

Step 4

Complete 6

Step 5

Complete 8

Step 5

Complete 10

Director of Finance $ so,zro S 1o1,o2o S to6,ozt S 11i.,376 S rre,ga+ $ tzz,lgt
City Clerk S ez,zq+ S os,qot $ 6g,z3s $ 7z,tlt $ 7s,llg S 79,568

CiWAftorney S 58,056 $ oo,gsg 5 6+,006 S oz,zoe $ 7o,s6i $ 74,096
Deputy CityAttorney $ zz,tt+ 5 :s,zss $ zs,qlz S 37,246 S ss,roe S +r,oos
Confidential Assistant $ zo.gozr $ ztszzs s 22.3886 $ 23.9304 S 24.6834 $ zssr76
Confidential Secretary s 24.8835 5 26.t278 $ zt.+z+t S 28.80s9 $ zo.z+oz $ 31.7s8s



il

Authorization for execution of contractor agreement for Lowertown Loop Phase { Project

WHEREAS, the City of Lockport (City) received a New York State Canal Corporation Canalway
matching grant in the amount of $150,000 for the Lowertown Loop Phase 1 Project (Project),
City Contact No. 2536; and

WHEREAS, the Project consists of improvements to the comfort station on Market St. at North
Adam St. and construction of a pavilion in the vicinity of the comfort station; and

WHEREAS, donations and in-kind work by City forces to support the Project will be used for the
required grant match; and

WHEREAS, the City issued a Notice to Bid for interested contractors for the Project and
subsequently received and publicly opened and read bids at the Municipal Building on
November 1,2023 at 2 pm as follows;

And

WHEREAS, the City Engineering Consultant Nussbaumer & Clarke, lnc. (Nussbaumer)
reviewed the contractor bid and has determined that Sicoli Construction Services, lnc. has
submitted lowest complete and responsible bid and recommends that the City award the
contract to Sicoli Construction Services, lnc., for a total amount of 9149,800.00;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT:

RESOLVED that the Mayor is authorized to execute an Agreement with Sicoli Construction
Services, lnc., 4800 Hyde Park Blvd., Niagara Falls, NY '14305, in the amount of $149,800.00
contingent upon legal review.

TOTAL BID
AMOUNT

$149,800.00



RECtrt\1ED

Cr.i ; lulJ
fficial Use Permit

CITY CLERK OFFICE
I Revocable Permit

Name: Keli & Robert Worden Phone: 806-543-5666

Address: 100 Irving Street, Lockport, New York 14094

Email:

Property Address: 100 Irving Street, Lockport, New York 14094

Existing Zoning: R- l

Description of proposed action: Request for a special use permit to harbor chickens
and quail on the property

Please do not write below this line (office use only)

Buildine Inspection

Planning Board App. Received: 10113/2023 @
Planning Board Meeting Date: 111612023

Corporation Counsel

Approval:

0-

Citv Clerk

Call for Public Hearing:

Public Hearing:

Common Council

Sponsor of Resolution:

*loolznz3

Icflq"1,q



City of Lockport

Building Inspection
439-6754

1 Locks Plaza
Lockport, NY 14094

City Clerk
439-6776

Special Use Permits

A Special Use is a use which because of its unique characteristics requires individual
consideration and approval in each case by the Common Council and the Planning Board, before
it may be permitted in the district enumerated in the zoningordinance.

The requirements to obtain a Special Use Permit are as follows:

o Public health and safety be protected
o Will not decrease value of surrounding properties, no change in the character of

neighborhood.
o IJse is compatible with adjoining development
o Adequate landscaping and screening provided
o Adequate parking is provided with no appreciable change in traffic
o No excessive noise or outside storage of materials.

A Planning Board application can be obtained form the Building Inspection Department. There is
a $ 100, non.refundable application fee and a yearly renewal fee of $50. You will need to provide
Building Inspection with 10 copies of your application and supporting documents, the
application fee and this paper with the back filled out.

Reyocable Permits

A revocable permit is a permit issued by the City when a property owner wants to place
an item in or utilize the City Right of Way. Examples of this would include by not be limited to
fences, signs and awnings. To apply please fill out the back of this sheet and return it to the City
Clerk's Office. You will be required to provide an insurance certificate to the Clerk's Office
showing that the City is additionally insured on the policy. There is a $_ application fee.
There is no renewal fee.

Should you have any questions please feel free to contact Building Inspection or the Clerk's
Office.



TRVING STREET (66' WIDE)

t+1.00' tutAP = l+1.54"\,ts
LINE IRVING STREET

l\r-)Llt\ v f. I t.rl :\\'vLtrlttLtt tt, -j.trll

a

90.33'MAP = 190.48, MS TO
W. LINE ROGERS AVENUE

St.l lltu't\ llrrr

- suB Lot- 40
FENCE O 6'W

/ t\tttoNllnr
0.6r'S

0r,E

I \. lli\r\ |l\

J:
,1

c_
a

r'.

l;
a/)
ci

t

^.1

l
I

t/)
E
,z
a*
J

co
co
r^.i(.,
It

n
ir
a")

I

t

FI:N(,F! l.s 1 r,w

I \ Urtr: t1t1 FENcf - *
30s 141.00' MA.p/'= 141.54'MS -- -"

/
PARALLEL WTH THE SOUTH LINE OF IRVING STREET/

e,-t"?S.
cre;S'./A\-".,Q

.*€Kd
^<i9);'9.'e-olo-[<o\€

,/' 
t^.o-

.'l

,tt( \ t\1 )

I
I

I

!.*,i
r$
l<--

,.1

95"87,-2s,

---€.€-- -_

rJ-
{,1

tYi I
It.\\11
flrl)

MAP47',

t

F
I

I

I
I
I
,

I

t-

t:

I

I

6l

.! i-iTr" r't l!1.,1,' l*s'l./ F:-+

-.s1il] r.ot-

c!t
-/

:t
iuit\tt

I
I

I
I

I

- suB l,o1 34

-_2aqq _

-ZL7A

s{.t8 Lot' 38-.rl
ll
ll
ll
lt

I .yt \t
\\ \'\.t ) I

I ltrtt\t
. f 6rvi:E

z--

tNSTt(uA,tt:Nt-
# ])te t6{2t

+t 0.4'J A(.RL;

--.-l7g7'



Two Hens ln the Back Yartl lor Eaeh person
ln the llouse Wtll Keep a Family

In Fresh Eggs

E\VDN lhc srnnlk:it back lrrrrtl hns ro('n lirr r rlt)(ti lnr(e. l-, enouglt tr sut)pll, thc horr:lc rvil.h cpg:i, Thc c6t 0t rnaiin-

- 
urining such n flrrck is srnrril, Trlric ,{n(t kitchcn ws$rr. f uvidc nrucl! of the fcerl for rhc hcns, 'lhcr. rcqtrirc littlc nrtcnrion*

unly a fcw nrinutcs n rlny.

An intcrcstcd child, okl cnrtrgh ro {rkc a litrlc rcsprlt:i'oility,
can csre lor. o fcw folls {ts v'ell os l grown p€rv)n.

- Evcry_bflckytrrd ill tltu Unilrld litltlc;j sho{ltl contributc its
shnrc to a bumpcr cropofpor:ltry Rnd :ggs in lgig.

In Tlnre ot I'€ucc lr l'fotllslrlc Lccrc$t{orr
In fi:nC 0f tV{r a |tfltrlollc If uly

Ft&/.d.lin olsa rrrt]Lr. o/ANl. l}drdPodr ry*(rtnt,,it.tt.Fu,ro..ots{a/.qJili.,rr, rrt.

6i324 & 0 \ ?..,rtl 607"e

a
a
a

Sent via the Samsung Galaxy AS2 SG, an AT&T 5G smartphone

2 of2
10/1112023,7:20 t



(No Subject)

From: blueidkelel3 (blueidkeleL3@aol.com)

To: blueidkelel3@aol.com

Date: Wednesday, October 1I,2023 at 06:39 PM EDT

Free chickens are being given out to people in a
French town to reduce food waste

A French town is giving its residents free chickens to hetp get rid of waste more
sustainably.
Colmar; in northeastern France, is offering each household two free red hens to be used for
composting.
Authorities there have calculated that the animals can devour around 300 grams of waste a day
- about 100 kilograms annually.
Families have until March 24lo apply and those who are considered eligible will recieve the
new additions on June 10, local media reports,
People have to prove they will be able to house and care for the birds and accept that
authorities have the right to visit and checkup on their welfare.
Colmar has been handing out chickens for environmental reasons since 2015 and the drives
have taken place twice a year since.
Chickens help with disposing of waste by eating foods that would otherwise end up in landfills.
They can also be used to physically work the compost by scratchinig and tearing at pile.
On top of this, they add their own droppings to the waste, adding to its nutrients.
France has made it compulsory for all local authorities to provide households with a way to
compost by next January.
Several areas have opted to offer free worms instead of chickens, including paris which holds
regular worm composting bun distributing campaigns regularly.

Sent via the Samsung Galaxy AS2 SG, an AT&T SG smartphone

I of I
rc/11n023,7:19 PI



(No Subject)

From: blueidkeleL3 (blueidkeleL3@aol.com)

To: blueidkeleL3@aol.com

Date: Wednesday, October LL,2023 at 06:41 PM EDT

Having Chickens Reduces Your
Food Waste, and Therens Proof
A city in Belgium had a pretty unique "social
experiment."

SHAWNA DAVIS DEC 30,2022 7:00 AM EST

lf you've never considered having a few

People who have pet chickens are likely already aware of
why it's necessary to have them around, however, if
you're unfamiliar why having a few of them (if you have
the space, of course) should be the new "normal," allow
us to explain,

These adorable fluffy birds offer quite a few benefits -and we're talking more than just providing you with fresh
eggs for breakfast. Apparently, having a few chickens
around can offer quite a few environmental benefits and
thanks to the province of : . we've
learned exactly how chickens can reduce food waste and
better the environ ment.

Sent via the Samsung Galaxy AS2 SG, an AT&T bG smartphone

I of 1 l0llll2023,7:19 t



(No Subject)

From: blueidkelel3 (blueidkele13@aol,com)

To: blueidkeleL3@aol.com

Date: Wednesday, October L1,,2023 at 06:45 pM EDT

The idea: Urban hens can help cities become
more food secure
Backyard hens provide a cheap, nutritious and regular source of protein for litge
investment. cities can do more to help canadians embrace them.

As inflation hits all areas of spending, Canadians say that food prices are where they're hit
the hardest. From May 2021 to May 2o22,the price of food tor. by 9.7 per cent. And in a
survey conducted by Statistics Canada in April ;43 per cent of respondents said rising food
prices impacted them the most in the past six months, followed by rising transportation
prices, at32 percent.

Basic food staples were up across the board in May 2022,from fresh fruit (+10 per cent) to
meat (+10.1 per cent) and fresh vegetables (+8.2 per cent). While planting vegeiables inyour
backyard allows people to grow their own source of food (along with the-well--being benefits
of tending to a garden) sources of complex protein are harder to come by. That's *f,rr.
backyard hens come into play. Hens la1 an iv.tage of one egg a day for200 to 250 days out
of the year. They're a reliable source of fresh proiein with liitle upfront and ongoing cost,

ADVERTISEMENT

I of 3
l0/ll/2023,7:t9 p



As the price of groceries increases, growing one's own foocl can be a powerful toolto
affordably feed households and make cities more food secure. Backyard hens can be a part
of this strategy.

The idea: Supporting urban food security by allowing citizens to raise egg-laying hens in
their backyards.

How it works: Over the past decade, cities across Canada have been piloting urban hen
programs. Saint John was the first city in the Maritimes to allow homeowners to keep
chickens, in2013, while Toronto's UrbanHensTO pilot began five years later. Vancouver and
Calgary began permitting for backyard hens in2022, although Calgary,which recently did
the same, has limited its program to 100 applicants for the first year.

Rules vary by city, but hen-keepers typically need to apply for a permit or to register their
hens. Vancouver allows a maximum of four hens, while Calgary stipulates a minimum of
two and a maximum of four, since hens should be part of a flock. nylaws also cover the size
of enclosures, along with doors that can be locked at night to protect them from predators,
like coyotes.

Paul Hughes, executive director of Grow Calgary, a non-profit community farm, has long
been a proponent of urban chickens. o'They are au.ry good fit in an urban environment
because of their size and how easy it is to feed them very simple table scraps,,'Hughes
explains, which helps to reduce household waste. Alternativ.ty, n. says a df O Uug of feed
supports three hens for two months. Enclosures can run the gamut of tosts, but Hughes built
his from scrap materials. The hens themselves are cheap too, costing about $10 each for a
standard laying hen, and up to $50 or more for heritage varieties that lays eggs in
unconventional colours.

There are, however, opponents to the movement, citing concerns over cleanliness, hygiene
and noise. The town of Tecumseh, in southwestern Ontario, discontinued its fwo-yeuiurU*
hens pilot program in March 2022 due to complaints that hen coops attracted rodents. But
Hughes says mice and rats are prevalent in utbutr settings and thebresence of chickens is not
a significant factor in their proliferation. While chickens are susceptible to avian flus, the
segregated nature of backyard flocks makes it easy to identify and isolate problems to
prevent the spread of disease.

As for noise complaints, Hughes reminds us that it's roosters that crow not hens, which is
why most urban chicken programs don't permit roosters. "Hens are very very quiet,o, he
says' o'They will make a tiny bit of noise when they're having an egg because they,re very
proud. That's their big event for the day;,

2 of3
l0/1112023,7:19 F



The big picture: Urban hens aren't the only solution to feeding cities, but they can be part
of it. "Our food security in Canada is so low," Hughes explains. "Every little initiative will
add considerably to our capacity to feed ourselves. Families that choose to have hens will
improve their household food security." Hughes believes that cities can and should do more
to encourage citizens to raise chickens through municipal campaigns, similar to recycling
campaigns. "[Cities can] promote hens as a way to reduce organic waste and as a way to
access nutritious food," he says.

Much like cities offer free compost for gardens, cities could also subsidize materials required
to raise hens as an incentive-or subsidize the hens themselves. In 2010, the town of
Mouscron, in Belgiulrl, gave away 50 pairs of chickens as a means of waste management and
egg production.

As a bonus, Hughes reminds us of the emotional support that hens provide. o'We callthem
pets with pets of benefits," he says. ooA dog gives you nothing back. A cat gives you nothing
back. But a chicken gives you an egg,,'

This story is part of a series onfood insecurity in Canadafunded by the Itlople Lectf'Centre
,for Foocl Secwitlt, in partnership with Commrmiy, F oocl Centres Ccutocla.

Sent via the Samsung Galaxy A52 SG, an AT&T 5G smartphone

3 of 3
l0/11/2023,7:19 t



HOME SUBSCRIBE

LOGIN

JOIN NE\J(SLETTER ADVERTISE CONTACTUS ABOUT US

BUSINESS COLUMNISTS COMMUNITY PROFILE LOCAL NEWS TOURISM CALENDAR

SPOTLIGHT DIGITAL ISSUES

YOU ARE HERE: FIOME / COLUMNISTS / BACKYARD CHICKENS: EGGS, THERAPY STRESS RELIEF. PEST coNTRoL

F.""ky{d Chickensj Eggs, Therapy,
Stresb ReLief, Pest Con'tTot I

JUNE a4, zotT BY FBt,l - LEAVE A (JOt/r"4EN.il'

Keeping and raising chickens is becoming more
and more popular: There are many benefits of
tending chickens, including fresh eggs, pest

contro [, ferti tizer, entertai n ment, stress relieve,

therapy and famity vatues, lt is great for chil"dren to
learn where their food comes from, What a great
way to learn about the food chain and about
respecting the animats that provide us with food,

I of 8
l0lll/2023,7:2i F



The daily fare of fresh eggs offers numerous heal.th benefits and they taste good, too. A recent
study in Mother Earth News showed a cornparison in nutrients between eggs from pasture-
raised chickens and those raised on factory farms. Benefits of pasture-raised chicken eggs
over their commerciaI counterpart inctude:
. Less cholesterol and fat
. Two times more omega-3 fatty acids
. Three times more vitamin E

.Six times more vitamin D

. Seven times more beta carotene

Have backyard pests? Chickens love to search for bugs, Every waking moment they are
scratching and pecking around tooking for a tasty snack. Chickens like grasshoppers,
caterpiltars, worms, beet[es, centipedes, scorpions and other crawling nibbles, What we
consider pests, chickens consider [unch,

Chickens are also masters at recycting, The nutrients in food scraps and weeds eaten by
chickens are recycled into an extremel.y vatuabte substance for the garden,,.manure! Chicken
poop is one of the best garden fertiLizers because it contains essential nutrients incLuding
nitrogen, potassium and phosphorous, The hardest part is keeping the chickens from eating
the garden white they are fertilizing it.

Did you know raising chickens can atso help reduce stress, increase heatth and calm the
mind? Similar to caring for and enjoying other pets, tending chickens causes the body to
retease oxytocin, a stress-towering hormone, Clea Danaan, author of Zen and the Art of Raising
Chickens:The Way of the Hen, explains, "Chicken watching increases our mindfulness skil.l.s,

Caring for chickens gets us outside regu[ar[y and watching their methodical scratching and
foraging around the yard slows us down and grounds us in the present, providing a meditative
and re[axing experience,"

When sociatized and supervised properLy, many animaLs offer additionaL therapeutic benefits
to children and adults. More than 3,ooo animat assisted interaction programs exist across the
country' These programs are designed to hetp people create a natural relationship with
anima[s, which hetps strengthens their own socia[ and emotionat skill.s, Chickens are
recognized therapy anima[s used to address a wide variety of issues inctuding dementia,
Atzheimer's, sensory disorders, psychiatric il.Lness, depression and autism,
Pet,org.au, an organization that provides support services for autistic chitdren and parents to
find the perfect companion anima[, offers the fotl.owing explanation: 'A chil.d who is on the
autism spectrum inherentty needs to be assisted away from over fixation on the inner sel.f, This
encouragement to outward awareness and not to fear it can be found in the antics and curious
jerky head motions made by chickens. lt is so captivating and funny, Chickens, as with most
pets' witt coax a special needs chiLd to innately accept that there is fascinating ,chaos, in Life
and that unpredictable things wi[l, occur with a fun result, Chickens offer a soothing effect, as
we[[ as help to increase sociat and ptay skills, decrease fee[ings of loneliness, and promote

2of8
l0llll2023,7:27 F



self-care and independent r.iving skiil.s through daity cheres,"
Finatty, chickens are very entertaining. Each one has a different personality and quirky behavior:
some are quiet and some are chatty, some tikecl to be hetd and carried: others not so much.
And, there are so many different breeds avaiLabte, You can find some cool-looking chickens,
Kids love to pet and hoLd chickens and if you get them when they are chicks, they wilt tike the
physicat attention,

The biggest time investment is buitding the coop and preparing the yard for the flock. After
that, you might onLy spend ro minutes a day making sure your hens have pLenty of food and
water throwing out scraps for them to snack on and checking for eggs, lf you let your hens
free range in the backyard, you wiLl. only have to ctean out their coop every three to four
weeks' But you wiLL have to hose the back patio or deck often, and roLl.ing around on the lawn
my offer more than grass strains,
It is important to check city ordinances or neighborhood regulations to make sure backyard
chickens are atlowed and to find out the timit, Most cities ail.ow three to six hens and no
roosters, FBN

Jenniene L' Foster, M'D.' a board-certified anesthesiol.ogist special.izing in regionaIanesthesia,
ioined Forest country Anesthesia in zoo6. Dr Foster came to Ftagstaff after compl.eting her
medica[ residency program at rhe ohio state University, when not caring for patients, Dr.
Foster enjoys spending time with her husband and two daughters in their yard that backs the
nationa[ forest and has room enough for a large garden and nearty a dozen chickens,

Forest country Anesthesia providers perform more than 16,ooo anesthetic procedures each
year in a[[ areas of anesthesiol.ogy, incLuding cardiovascul'ar, neurosurgery, obstetrics,
orthopedics and pediatrics, across five faciLities in Northern Arizona, To tearn more about Dr:
Foster and Forest country Anesthesia, visit ForestcountryAnesthesia,com or caLLgzg-ll3-25o5.

FILED UNDER: CQLUMNISTS

TAGGED WITH; FEATURE, JEI.INIENE L FOSTER

Leave a Repl,y

Your emai[ address wiil. not be pubtished, Required fietds are marked .

3 of 8

Comment.

10/11/2023,7:2i pl







t



/1



tL







t.

J






